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Mary Ann Catledge, as Persona} Representative of the Estate of Scott C. Catledge, Sr., Plaintiff, vs. Aetna Life Insurance Company,
Defendant.

C/A No. C:08-1585-CMC
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA, ROCK HILL DIVISICN

594 F. Supp. 2d 610; 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4441; 45 Employee Benefits Cas. (BNA} 2818

January 21, 2009, Decided
January 21, 2009, Filed

CASE SUMMARY

PROCEDURAL POSTURE: Plaintiff personal representative of the estate of her husband sought a determination that defendant
insurer abused its discretion when it denied the representative’s claim for accidental death benefits follewing the husband's death.

OVERVIEW: The benefits at issue were provided under Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 23 U.5.C.5. § 1001 et
seq., plan. The representative's claims were, therefore, pursued solely under 26 U.S.C.G. § 1132(a}{1}(B} and {g}. The husband
died as a result of ingesting a chemical found in products such as antifreeze; however, it was disputed as to whether the ingestion
was intentional. The insurer concluded that it was and, based on this factual determination, denied benefits because the death was
not accidental and the cause of death fell within one of two exclusions (for self-inflicted injury or death as a result of intentional
intoxication). The representative challenged the insurer's determination of intent as well as its resulting denial of benefits. The
insurer abused its discretion in denying the claim for accidental death benefits on the record before It. By failing to seek
clarification before making its decisions, the insurer acted as one interested in denying & claim, rather than as one interested in
determnining whether the claim should or should not be paid. However, the record in favor of the representative was not so strong
as to mandate an award of benefits.

OUTCOME: The court remanded the case to the insurer for further review.

CORE TERMS: antifreeze, decedent, accidental, ethylene glycol, alcohol, intoxicant, death certificate, consumption, intentionally,
coroner, toxicology, consurmed, ingestion, denial letters, suicide, autopsy reports, drank, fiduciary, coverage, autopsy, cause of
death, death benefits, blood, died, self-inflicted, contributed, self-harm, foul, documentation, conflict of Interest

LEXISNEXIS® HEADNOTES Z Hide

> Employee Retirement Jncorne. Security Act (ERISA} > Judicipl Seview > Standards of Review > Abuse of Discretion fﬂi
HN1g The presence of a conflict does not change the standard of review from the deferentiat standard generally applied. Instead,
the conflict is one factor which may act as a tie-breaker when other factors are closely balanced. Under the abuse of
discretion standard, the court is reguired to uphold the administrator's decision if it is reasonable, even if the court would
have come to a different conclusion had it considered the matter independently. A decision is reasonable if it is the result
of a deliberate, principled reasoning process and if it is supported by substantial evidence. More Like This Headnote

Pensions & Benefits Law > Employee Sstirement Iagome Security Act (ERISA) > ludiciai Review > Standards. of Review > General Overview
MN24In deciding whether a decision satisfies the reasonableness standard, & court considers the following eight factors: (1) the

language of the plan; (2) the purposes and goals of the plan; (3) the adequacy of the materials considered te make the
decision and the degree to which they support it; (4) whether the fiduciary's interpretation was consistent with other
provisions in the plan and with earlier interpretations of the pian; (5) whether the decisionmaking process was reasoned
and principled; (6) whether the decisicn was consistent with the procedural and substantive requirements of the Employee
Retirement income Security Act of 1974, 29 U.S.C.S. § 1001 et seq.; (7) any external standard relevant to the exercise of
discretien; and (8) the fiduciary's motives and any conflict of interest it may have. More Like This Headnote

Penslons & Renefits Law > Employee Retirement Income Security Ack (ERISA)Y > Civil Claims & Remedies > Causes of Action >

Suts to Becover Rlan Bensfits it :

HN34 An individual claiming benefits under an Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 28 U.S.C.S. & 160! et seq.,
plan bears the initial burden of establishing that the claim falls within the scope of coverage. If the claimant satisfies this
burden, the burdan shifts to the plan to show that some exclusion applies which precludes payment of

benefits. More Like This Headnote
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Penslons & Benefits Law > Emplovee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISAY > Ciyli Claims & Remedies > Causes of Action >
Sults to Recover Plan Benefits %0

HN4+ Datermination that death was accidental as shown on death certificate does not determine whether the death was an
accident for purposes of an accidental death policy, and a coroner's report or similar finding does not bind a plan
administrater's examination of the evidence. Mare Like Thic Headnote

Pensions & Benefits Law > Emp! Ret neom rity Act (ERISA) > Flduciaries > Geneml Qverview L
HNS4 an Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 29 U.S.C.5. § 1001 et seq., fiduciary should not be aliowed to rely
on deficiencies in the form or content of an appeal to excuse its own failure to obtain an adequate record prior to making
its initial or final decision on the matter. More Like This Headnote

COUNSEL: [**1] For Mary Ann Catledge, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Scott C Catledge Sr, Estate of Scott C
Catledge, Sr, Plaintiff: Phitip Edward Wright », LEAD ATTORNEY, Lancaster, SC; Robert Edward Hosking %, LEAD ATTORNEY, Foster
and Foster, Greenville, SC.

For Aetna Life Insurance Company, Defendant: 1 Nicole Judd Buntin », lennifer £ Johnsen ¥, LEAD ATTORNEYS, Gallivan White and
Boyd, Greenville, 5C.

JUDGES: CAMERON MCGOWAN CURRIE «, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE.

OPINION BY: CAMERCN MCGOWAN CURRIE -

OPINICN

[*612] OPINION AND ORDER FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW -

Through this action, Plaintiff Mary Ann Catledge {"Mrs. Catledge” or "Plaintiff"), acting as Personal Representative of the estate of
her husband, Scott C. Catledge, Sr. ("Scott Catledge” or "Decedent”), seeks a determination that Defendant

Aetna Life Insurance Company ~({"Aetna"), abused its discretion when it denied Plaintiff's claim for accidental death benefits following
Scott Catledge's death.

It is undisputed that Scott Catledge died as & result of ingesting ethytene glycol (a chemical found in products such as antifreeze).
What is in dispute is whether his ingestion of this substance was intentional. Aetna concluded that it was and, based on this factual
determination, [**2] denied benefits both because the death was not "accidental” and because the cause of death fell within one of
two exclusions (for self-inflicted injury or death as a result of intentlonal intoxication). Plaintiff challenges Aetna's determination of
intent as well as its resutiing denial of benefits.

The benefits at issue were provided under an employee welfare benefit plan goverried by the Employee Retirement Income Security

Act of 1974, 29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq. ("ERISA"). Mrs, Catledge's claims are, tharefore, pursued solely under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)
(1)(8) and {(g).

APPLICABLE LAW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is undisputed that the underlying Plan grants Aetna discretion to make the relevant coverage decisions. It Is also undisputed that
Aetna is both the decisionmaker and the insurer of the Plan. Aetna's decision is, therefore, reviewed under an abuse of discretion
standard of review with recognition that Aetna operated under a conflict of interest.,

As recently clarified by the Fourth Circuit in light of Metropolitan Life Insur. Co. v. Glann, U.S. 128 5. Ct. 2343 1711, Fd.
2d 299 (2008), #MT%the presence of a conflict does not change the standard of review from the deferential standard generally applied.
[**3] Champlon v. Black & Decker, Slip Op. 07-199%, 850 F.3d 353, 2008 U.S. App. LEXIS 25741 (4th Cir. Dec, 16, 2008}, Instead,
the conflict is one factor which may act as a tie-breaker when other factors are closely balanced. 550 F.3 3, 2008 U.S, App. LEX3S

25741 at *10 (quoting Glepn, 128 S. Ct. at 2351).

Under the abuse of discretion standard, the court is required to uphold the administrator's decision if it is reasonabie, even if the court
would have come to a different condiusion had it considered the matter independently. See £ifis v. Metrapolitan Life Ins. Co., 126 F.3d

228, 237 {4th Cir, 1997). A decision is reasonable If it is "the result of a deliberate, principled reasoning process and if it is supported

by substantial evidence." Id. at 232 (quoting Brogan v. Hofland, 105 £.3d 158, 161 {(4th Cir. 1997)).

HNZZT deciding whether the decision satisfies this "reasonableness” standard, the court considers the following eight factors:

(1) the language of the plan; (2) the purposes and goals of the plan; (3) the adequacy of the materials considerad to
make the decision and the degree to which they support it; (4) whether the fiduciary's interpretation was consistent with
other provisions in the pian and with earlier interpretations of the plan; [**4] (5) whether the decisionmaking

process [*613] was reasoned and principled; (6) whether the decision was consistent with the procedural and
substantive requirements of ERISA; (7) any external standard relevant to the exercise of discretion; and (8) the
fiduciary's motives and any conflict of interest it may have.

See Champion, 550 £.3d 353, 2008 U.S. App. LEXIS 25741 at *12 {quoting Booth v. WalMart Stores, Inc. Assocs, Health and Welfare
Plan, 201 F.3d 335, 342-43 (4th Cir. 20011,

DECISION OF THE COURT

Having fully considered the administrative record before the plan, the memoranda of the parties, and the limited depesitions allowed
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in pursuit of this action, the court enters the following Findings of Fact and Cenclusions of Law pursuant to Rule 52{a) of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure. To the extent that any findings of fact represent conclusions of law, or vice-versa, they shall be so regarded.

FINDINGS OF FACT
A. RELEVANT PLAN TERMS

The accidental death benefits sought through this action_ are provided under the following terms of the Plan.

This Plan pays a benefit if, while insured, a person suffers a bodily injury caused by an accident; and if, within 365 days
after the accident and as a direct result of the injury, I[*%5] he or she loses: :

. His or her life[.]

LR

Loss of life due to expasure [to] . . . chemical elements will be deemed to be accidental if the exposure was the direct
result of an accident.

Dkt. No. 40 at 41, The terms "accident" and "accidental" are not defined in the policy.

The accidental death benefits are subject to a number of imitations. These limitations are listed five pages after the above—quoted
basic coverage provision. The intervening pages set out a number of other policy benefits which are also subject to the same list of
limitations. The limitations relevant to the present order are as follows:

Limitations

This coverage is only for losses caused by accidents, No benefits are payable for a loss caused or contributed ta by:

L

. An intentionally self-inflicted injury.

* * %k

. Use of alcohol, intoxicants, or drugs, except as prescribed by a physician. An accident in which the bloed alcohol level of
the operator of the mator vehicle meets or exceeds the level at which Intoxication would be presumed under the law of the
state where the accident occurred shall be deemed to be caused by the use of alcohol.

Dkt. No. 40 at 46.
B. ADMINISTRATIVE RECORD

The documents obtained from the Plan [**6] reveal the following facts on which the Plan based its decision. Scott Catledge died on
July 25, 2006, following two days of hospitalization during which he was not capable of communication. His death certificate indicates
the immediate cause of death as multiple organ faiture which, in turn, was caused by ethylene glycol. Dkt. No. 40-2 at 88. In block 43
of this form, which asks the author to "Describe how injury occurred,” the coroner typed in "drank anti-freeze." The "manner of death"
is jisted as "accident." Jd.

The accidental death determination was apparently made following a police investigation. [*614] * That investigation is summarized
in an "incident report” which reflects an investigation initiated on July 25, 2006, at the reguest of the coroner. Dkt. No. 40-2 at 89,
Although Aetna does not identify the incident report in its denial letters as something on which It relied, it is clear that Aetna did
have and consider this document. 2

' FOOTNOTES

1 The relevant block on the death certificate pravides six choices: {1) natural; {2) accident; (3) suicide; (4} homicide; (5) pending
investigation; and (6) could not be determined. It appears that the coroner initially checked the "pending Investigation"
. [**7] block and later indicated that the death was an "accident.”

2 Both of the decisionmakers, whose depositions are summarized below, indicated they considered this document.

The incident report states that the coroner was informed by hospital staff that they suspected Scott Catledge "died after ingesting
anti-freeze." Id. It also indicates that Mrs. Catledge advised the coroner "that her husband was a heavy drinker.” Dkt. No. 40-2 at 90.

The report refers to a search of the Catledge home or July 26, 2006, during which time the home was observed to be very poorly
kept with multiple full trash receptacles. Id. at 90 (also noting that the Catiedges were separated at the time although Mrs. Catledge
continued to bring food to her husband). A number of bottles of "Code Red Mountain Dew" as well as liquor bottles were collected, Id.
(the report does rot indicate if any liguor remained in the bottles but does state that Decedent was reportedly a heavy drinker who
"drank liqguor most often mixed with Code Red Mountain Dew'"). ‘

The report notes that officers found a bottie of antifreeze on the kitchen counter with the childproof seal and some unspecified
quantity of ligquid missing. It also notes that Decedent's [**8] son (" Son") reported that he found the container in his room after his
father's hospitalization and moved it to the kitchen counter because he heard medical personnel discussing the possibility that his
father had consumead antifreeze. Son also stated that he had seen his father place antifreeze in his truck earlier in the week. 3 Further
inguiry of Son was terminated by his mother.
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" FOOTNOTES

3 An officer searched for but found no evidence that anti-freeze had been added to the vehicle.

The report also refers to a subsequent "additional interview" and polygraph of Mrs, Catledge on September 5, 2006. The relevant
portien of the incident report was initially entered on September 5, 2006 and edited on September 28, 2006. This notation gives very
little information regarding the interview beyond stating that Mrs. Catledge "passed the polygraph examination." It conciudes as
follows: "These findings were forwarded to Coroner Mike Morris. Coroner Morris has completed the death certificate in this case with
the cause of death listed as an accident.” Dkt. No. 40-2 at 91.

On or about October 12, 2006, Plaintiff submitted a claim through her empioyer to Aetna for two forms of death benefits: term life
insurance [*#*9]in the amount of $ 2,000; and accidental death benefits in the amount of $ 50,000. See Dkt. No. 40-2 at 85-86
(interoffice memo form dated October 12, 2006). The claim was supported by the above referenced death certificate and incident
report, 4

' FOOTNOTES

"4 This report is incorrectly referred to as an "accident report” on the Springs Global interoffice memorandum which forwarded the
" death benefit claim to Aetna. Dkt. No. 40-2 at 85.

[*615] Aetna's computer print-outs indicate it received the claim on or about October 13, 2006, Dkt. No. 40-2 at 7. The first
actions on the ciaim were taken by employees designated by the initials "ACS," "SIR," and "RAM." Of these three, only RAM appears to
have been involved in any external investigation, which invelved several calls to the investigating police officer for the purpose of
*verifying that spouse was not implicated in death." Dkt. No. 40-2 at 7 (10/19/06). ® According to Aetna’s computer records, it
required at least five calls {spaced one to two weeks apart) before RAM was able to speak with the officer on November 30, 2006, Id
at 7-9. The investigating officer confirmed what was written on the incident report, that the "spouse was not implicated in [the]
[*¥*10] death." Id. at 9. :

 FOOTNOTES

: 5 At the time these calls were made, Aetna apparently had in its possession the death certificate ruling the death an accident as
: well as the incident report which concluded with the statement that Mrs. Catledge "passed the polygraph examination.” :

A decision to pay the $ 2,000 term life benefit was made at this time. Id. (entry dated 11/30/06). Shortly thereafter, the claim for
accidental death benefits was turned over to Rie Barreto, who is designated in the computer entries as "RZH." See id. at © (entry
dated 12/05/06). & Presumahly based on the death certificate and incident report, Barreto determined that she would also need to
review the autopsy and toxicology reports in order to make a determination. Id. at 10 {second entry dated 12/35/06). This
informaticn was requested from Mrs. Catledge by letter dated December 5, 2006. Id.; & Dkt. No. 40-2 at 83. 7 Mrs, Catledge
obtained the requested documents and forwarded them to Aetna on December 16, 2006. Dkt No. 40-2 at 18-37.

FOOTNOTES

6 As explained under the "supplemental evidence" discussion below, the initials "RZH" refer to Rie Barreto, the reviewer who made
i the initial decision. See Findings of Fact § C.1.; Barreto Depos. [**11] at 34. i

: 7 Barreto's December 5, 20056 letter appears to be Aetna’s first request for this additional information, presumably because Aetna ‘
: only began to consider the accidental death claim after resolving the much smaller claim for life insurance benefits. Both the claim
. for life insurance and accidental death benefits were, however, received by Aetna nearly two months eartier on or about October
©13, 2006.

The autopsy includes the following clinical summary:

The decedent was admitied to the hospital twe days prior to death with an altered mental status. He had allegedly bean

separated from his wife. He was to pick up his son and his ex-wife went to the house. She found him in an altered mental

status with nausea, vomiting and diarrhea sitting on the toilet. He was transported to Springs Memorial Hospital where he

became obtunded and ha[d] to be intubated. He was found to have severe metabolic acidosis. He was markedly

hypotensive requiring multiple drugs. A urine drug screen was negative as was Acetaminophen and Salicylates. A search
= of the house revealed tire cleaner but no antifreeze present. He rapidly deteriorated and died.

Dkt. No. 40-2 at 20. &

FOOTNOTES

“& This summary, while entirely second-hand, [**12] is generally consistent with other information presented to Aetna. The
notable excaption is the reference to the presence of tire cleaner and absence of antifreeze in the home. This statement may ralse
_questions as to whether the container removed from the home was, in fact, antifreeze.

in a section headed "Final Summary," the autopsy states that Scott Catledge "was admitted to the hospital two days prior to death
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FOOTNOTES

with altered mental status," [*616] and that he "became markedly hypotensive and died." Dkt. No. 40-2 at 25. It reports that
Decedent's "ethylene glycol level was 545 ma/tL on hospital admission” but does not indicate any reading for ethanol alcohol level on
admission. ® The Final Summary also states that post-mortem examination revealed "marked congestion” of the kidneys with
"n]umerous calcium oxalate crystals . . . present” which is "consistent with ethylene glycol ingestien” and that "[t]he remainder of
the autepsy was unremarkable." The final comments in this summary are as follows:

Postmortem toxicology revealed negative ethylene glycol and an ethanol alcohol of 31 mg/dL. This was from blood
obtained at the autopsy.

The apparent cause of death s acute ethylene glycot ingestion [¥*13] and the manner of death is accidental.

A thorough investigation by the Lancaster County Sheriff's Department and Lancaster County Coroner did not reveal any
evidence of foul play. The decedent did have & history of alcohol abuse. No suicide notes were present.

Dkt. No. 40-2 at 25.

. FOOTNOTES

"5 The referenced toxicology report (on admission to hospital} includes three pages, One indicating the ethylene glycol reading of
545 mg/L, one indicating an absence of methyl alcohol, and one page the critical line of which is not legible. Dkt No. 40-2 at
35-37.

The post-mortem toxicology report indicates that no ethylene glycel was found in the bleod taken after death. This report daes,
however, provide the following description of ethylene glycol and its effects:

Ethylene glycol is a nonvolatile Yiquid used as an antifreeze, coolant, preservative and glycerine substitute. It also has
intoxicating properties similar to ethanol and has therefore been abused for this purpese. The metabolites of ethylene
glycol, including oxalate, are toxic and can eficit CNS, cardiopulmonary and renal dysfunctior: as well as severe metabolic
acidosis. Ethylene glycel has not been measured in the blood of normal individuals.

Following [**14] ingestion, toxicity of ethylene glycol is manifested in three stages depending on the dose administerad.
Inially CNS depression is noted with signs including intoxication, coma, convuisions and possibly death. Also during this
1-12 hour post-ingestion period, metabolic acidosis and gastraintestinal disturbances can be noted. The second stage
(12-24 hr post-ingestion) is often characterized by cardiopulmonary disturbances including tachycardia, tachypnea and
hypertension. In severe ingestiens, congestive heart failure and circulatory collapse may be seen. The end siage of
ethylene glycol texicity is renal failure (24-72 hr post ingestion).

Dkt. No, 40-2 at 29.

An excerpt from a treatise was included with the materials sent to Aetna by Mrs. Catledge. ¥ This document refiects a July 27, 2006
facsimile transmission from York Pathology and includes the following information on Ethylene Glycol:

Ethylene Glycol intoxication is one of the most serious and dramatic poisonings [*617] encountered in clinical toxicology.
As with methanol and isopropanoi, ethylene glycol is commanly ingested by debilitated or misguided alcoholic patients, but
unlike methanol, ethylene glycol ingestion is sporadic. Intentional [**15] administration occasionally teads to poisaning.

Ethylene giycol is used in many chemical man'ufacturing processes, as a solvent, as a component of cosmetics, and as an
antifreeze solution.

Dkt. No. 40-2 at 31. Later pages of the same document indicate that part of the treatment for ethyiene glycol toxicity includes
administration of ethyl alcohol. Id. at 33, **

: 10 It appears likely that the treatise excerpt was attached to the toxicology and autopsy reports when they were provided to Mrs.

| Catledge. This is because both the treatise excerpt and the toxicology report contain a facsimile transmission line indicating the
sender as York Patholegy and the transmission dates as July 26 and 27, 2006. These dates fall immediately after Decedent's death °
. and months before Mrs. Catledge submitted a claim for benefits. There is, therefore, no apparent basis for Barreto's assumption
that these materials resutted from research by Mrs. Catledge. See infra Findings of Fact § C.1.

11 This would appear to explain the presence of ethyl aicohal in Scott Catledge's bioodstream two days after his admission to the

- hospital.

Aetna's internal computer entries indicate that the above materials were received on [**16] December 28, 2006, and that the
initial decision to deny benefits was made on that same date. This entry reads as follows: "RCVD AUTOPSY/TOX. DEATH DUE TO USE
OF INTOXICANT. EMAIL TO GLS." DKt. No. 40-2 at 11 (RZH entry). This decision was not, however, communicated to Mrs. Catledge
until February 15, 2007, after review by "GHD." Id. There is no indication of any review-related activity on this claim in the
intervening month and a half.

By letter dated February 15, 2007, Aetna advised Mrs. Catledge of its denial decision. This letter reads, in relevant part, as follows:

We have completed our review of your claim for AD&PL benefits and have determined that the information received In
support of this claim has not established that this loss falls within the AD&PL coverage reguirements of the Policy.
Accordingly, Dependent AD&PL benefits in the amount of $ 50,000.00 are not payable to you under the terms of the
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Policy.

In order to be entitled to AD&PL benefits under the Policy, certzin requirements must be met. These raquirements are
found under the Accidental Death and Personai Loss Coverage section of the Policy, which states:

This Plan pays a benefit if, while insured, a person suffers [**171 a bodily injury caused by an accident; and if;
within 365 days affer the accident and as a direct result of the injury, he or she loses:

. His or her fife.

‘The Policy that Springs Industries, Inc. purchased for the Plan does not, however, provide coverage for all deaths resulting
from bodily injury. As with maost insurance, the Palicy contains certain restrictions. These reguirements are set forth in the
Limitations section of the Policy. Under the Limitations section, the Policy states:

This coverage is only for losses caused by accidents. No benefits are payable for a loss caused or contributed to
by:

. An intentionafly self-inflicted injury.

. Use of alcohol, intoxicants, or drugs, except as prescribed by a physician.

We based our decision to deny your claim for AD&PL benefits on the reguirements of the Policy and all of the documents
contained in the claim file, including the following specific information:

1. South Carolina Certificate of Death dated July 28, 2006;
2. Proof of Death claim form dated Cctober 12, 2006;
[*618] 3. Piedmont Medical Center Autopsy Report dated October 17, 2006;

4. National Medical Services Inc[.] Toxicology Report dated September 8, 2806.

According to the South Carolina [**18] Certificate of Death, Mr. Catledge's immediate cause of death was multi-organ
faiture due to Ethylene Glycol as the resuft of drinking anti-freeze. The [autopsy] report indicates that at admission to the
hospital a couple of days prior to his death, Mr. Catledge had & blood Ethylene Glycol level of 545 MG/L. The . . .

Toxicology Report indicates that Mr. Catledge had a Blood Ethyl Alcohal level of 31 mcg/dL on post-mortem examination.

The Policy provides benefits for losses caused by accidents. No benefits are payable if the loss was caused or
contributed to by an intentionally self-inflicted injury or the use of alcohol/intoxicants. Due to Mr. Catledge's
voluntary consumption of antifreeze, he exposed himself to unnecessary risks. These risks were reasonably
foreseeable, and such that he should have known or appreciated the consequences of his intentional acts, including the
likelihood or strong possibility of death. Consequently, the loss is not an accident as required by the Policy.

Dkt. No. 40-2 at 45-46 (italics in original, bold emphasis added).

Aetna explained that Plaintiff could seek a review of this decision and encouraged her to submit "any additional information, not
previously [**19] submitted, which [she] believe[s] will assist [Aetna] in evaluating [the] daim . . . ." The letter stated that the
following would be of "particular” assistance; "Written documentation in an official report of the aceident, or certified in writing, by the
Caroner, that Mr. Catiedge's death was an accident and was not caused or contributed [to] by an intentionally self-inflicted injury,

alcohol, intoxicants or drugs." Id. at 46-47 (indicating claimant should seek review or an extension of the deadline for review within
60 days).

It does not appear that Mrs. Catledge initiated an appea! {or sought an extension to do so) until well after the sixty-day deadline. See
Dkt. No. 40-2 at 12-13 (computer entries refiecting an absence of activity between February 16, 2007, and December 18, Z2007). She
did, however, initiate an appeal through counsel in mid-December 2007. Id. at 13 {December 20, 2007, entry referencing attorney
letter); Id. at 44 (attorney letter dated December 14, 2007). In this appeal, counsel states that "Mr. Catledge died as a result of the
accidental imposition [sic] of poison. I am enclosing the death certificate in which the cause of death is listed as accidental," The letter
[**20] states, incorrectly, that "[t]he claim was summarily denied en the ground that the death was a suicide," and threatens to
pursue a claim for bad faith refusal to pay benefits if the claim is not paid. 2 The only documentation provided with this letter is the
death certificate in which the cause of death is listed as accidental.” Id,

FOOTNOTES

12 The nature of suit threatened is preempted by ERISA,
Upon receiving this letter, Aetna promptly advised counsel that It could not proceed with the appeal without a signed release from the
claimant. Dkt. No. 40-2 at 13. 2 Counsel provided the requested [*619] release to Aetna together with a cover letter dated January
11, 2008. Dkt. Na, 40-2 at 41-42. The only subsequent communication between Aetna and counsel appears to have been the result

of a call from counsel in mid February 2008. This communication is referred to in a February 14, 2008, computer entry stating only
that claimant's attorney called on that date and was transferred to "RZH" (Barreto}. The computer enfry does not indicate what, if
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any, information Barreto provided to counsel.

FOOTNOTES

13 Aetna did not object to the appeal as untimely either at this time or any other. Neither did Aetna take any affirmative
[**21] steps (at this time or upon receipt of the release) to clarify counsel's clearly erroneous belief that the claim had been
denied based on a suicide exclusion.

A February 25, 2008, letter from counsel to Barreto also refers to this telephonic communication. In this letter, counsel indicates that
Barreto advised onily that the claim was being reviewed by her supervisor. He expresses frustration that he "ha[s] been unable to get
anyone else to call [him] back on this claim and asks Barreto to "[pliease contact the person reviewing this claim and have them
contact me with a decision in regard to the information I sent you indicating this was an accidental death.” fd.

The dacision to deny the claim was apparently made between the time of counsel's call to Barrato and the time his letter was mailed.
This is reflected in a computer entry made on February 19, 2008 which reads as follows:

Appeal decision: Evidence submitted clearly indicates [Decedent] had intentionally consumed antifreeze which contained
ethylene glycol, the consumption of which caused his death. There is no indication of a suicide attempt but the policy
clearly states the coverage Is only for lasses caused by accidents: no benefits [**22] are payable for loss caused or
contributed to by: an intentionally self inflicted injury [or] use of alcohol, intoxicants, or drugs except as prescribed by a
physician. Denial is maintained.

Dkt, No. 40-2 at 15 (entry by "HCM™), 4 This decision and the final denial letter was then reviewed by "IXB." Dkt. No. 40-2 at 16, The
final denial letter was faxed to Mrs. Catledge’'s attorney roughly three weeks later, on March 5, 2008. Dkt. No. 40-2 at 38. The
computer record does not reflect receipt of the attorney’s February 25, 2008 letter either before or after issuance of the final denial
letter,

FOOTNOTES

‘34 "HCM" refers to Howard Miller who was a trainee working with Jessica Dorazio. Ms. Dorazio, who is identified by the initials IXB,
' made the final denial decision. See Dorazio Depos. at 62-64. In her deposition (discussed below), Dorazi¢ indicated that she :
" clarified her basis of the decision through an entry shown on "page 73" {presumably bates numbered page 3500073 which Is filed

i as Dkt. No. 40-2 at 16 (entry by JXB). That entry states only "Denial upheld on appeal, limitations applicable; letter faxed to atty

‘ for bene, scanned to SIR."

The final denial letter quoies the same exclusions as does the [**23] initial letter (for losses caused or contributed to by
seff-inflicted injury and use of intoxicants). It then states that:

Mr. Catledge's death certificate indicates that his immediate cause of death was multi-organ failure due to ethylene
giycol. The official documentation pertaining to Mr, Catledge's death indicates he had a blood ethylene glycol level of 545
mg/L upon admission to the hospital a few days prior to his death as & resuit of his intentional consumption of antifreeze.
Due to Mr. Catiedge’s voluntary consumption of antifreeze, he exposed himself to risks which were reasonably
foreseeable and such that he shouid have known or appreciated the consequences of his intentional acts, including the
likelihood or strong possibility of death. In accordance with the Policy, no benefits are payable for a loss caused or
contributed to by an intentionally [*620] self-inflicted injury or by the use of intoxicants such as ethylene glycol.

As of this letter, Aetna has not received any information proving that Mr. Catledge's death was not caused or contributed
to by his intentional consumption of ethylene glycel, which is an intoxicant. The documents we have on file have been
thoroughly reviewed, [**24] and the Limitations section of the palicy has been examined to determine if the merits of
your claim adeguately challenge our denial of benefits. Accordingly, we believe, for the reasons stated, that our denial of
benefits was appropriate, and we have not received any evidence or reason to indicate that it shouid be overturned.
Therefore, in accordance with the terms of the Pelicy, Dependent SD&PL benefits are not payable for this loss.

Dkt. No. 40-2 at 38-35. The letter then advises that the decisien is final and states that the final decision may be reversed only If
found to be arbitrary and capricious. 5 Id. at 39 (letter signed by Jessica Dorazio). The specific materials considered are not
referenced in this letter, although the letter does refer to the review of all "official documentation." The letter specifically references
and quotes only the death certificate.

' FOOTNOTES

C. Suppliemental Evidence

In light of the paucity of evidence as to the basis of Aetna’s "intent" determination, and comments in Glenn regarding matters which
might be considered in weighing the impact of a conflict of interest, this court [*¥*25] allowed limited discovery in this matter in the
form of two depositions of the key individuals involved in the decisionmaking process. The depositions were further limited as to
subject matter.

1. Initial Denial Determination

The initial ¢laim determination was made by Rie Barreto, a senior life claim analyst who is identified on computer entries as "RZH."
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- explain why

Barreto Depos. at 10 & 34-38. In making her decision, Barreta relied primarily but not solety en the autopsy and toxicology reports,
Id. at 39. She also considered the death certificate and incident report which she read together. Id. at 44, Barreto considered the
follawing information from the death certificate teo be significant: "the immediate cause [of death], multiorgan failure due to ethylene
glycol. And the manner of death is accident, and how injury occurred is marked as drunk antifreeze.” Id. at 43. Asked if anything on
the death certificate suggested Decedent intended to cause himself injury, Barreto responded: "I consider drunk means the person
voluntarily take -- took antifreeze." Id. at 45. She conceded, nonetheless, that there was no express statement on the death
certificate that he "voluntarily drank antifreeze." Id. [**26] Barreto also noted that the death certificate did not say that the
ingastion of antifreeze "was like accidentfal] ingestion or exposure or anything like that.” Id. at 46 (but again conceding that the
death certificate did not indicate whether the consumption was intentional or accidental). Barreto, likewise, conceded that nothing in
the incident report indicated that Decedent "intended to do himseif harm” or that he "intentionally drank antifreeze as opposed to
accidentally” doing so. Id. at 46-47.

Although she conceded that there was no statement in the autopsy report indicating that the ingestion of antifreeze was intentional,
Barreto found support for her intent conclusion in the circumstances under which Decadent was found: "[in an {*621] altered 16]
mental status with nausea, vomiting and diarrhea and sitting on the toilet” in his home. Id. at 48. His failure to "go to the hospital
right away" caused Barreto to "believe that he didn't take any action" to help himself after the ethylene giycol from the antifreeze
took effect. Id. at 49. Barreto also considered the autopsy report's indication that there was "no evidence of foul play, so no one forced
him to drink antifreeze; so he had to [**27] voluntarily drink antifreeze.” Id. at 59 (later answering "yes" to the question *[Y]ou
surmised in reviewing this claim, because there was no evidence that somebody forced him to drink it, you surmise that he must have
done it voluntarily"). See also id. at 61 {explaining that she concluded the ingestier was intentional based on "the fact that the
coroner determined that he drunk [sic] antifreeze versus he accidentally ingested it and the fact that there was ne foul play; and he
fhad [a] high amount of antifreeze in his system"); /d. at 70 {stating that she gave particular significance to the word "drank” because
"[flrom my experience, usually [if] the person accidentally ingested something, usually they say accident or ingestion, exposure or
accidental overdose; so the drink -drunk antifreeze is pretty specific to me.”).

‘FOOTNOTES

- 16 The transcribed words read "out of menta! status,” but the referenced text from the autepsy reads "in an altered mental status.”
In context, the latter appears to be what Barreto intended to say.

Barreto may also have given some weight to the presence of ethyl alcohol in Decedent's system as reflected in the autopsy report. See
Id. at 50 (stating significance of presence [*%28] of 31 miligrams of ethyl alcohoi is that "[i]t's above [the] state legal limit of 0.08."

Id. Nonetheless, she conceded that this measurement was taken after Decedent had been in the hospital for two days. Id. (also relying
on this time gap in explaining why the autopsy toxicology repart did not reflect the presence of ethylene glycol in Decedent's blood). *7

: FOOTNOTES

‘17 Reference materials in the record indicate that ethyl alcohol is usad in the treatment of ethylene glycol poisoning. This would
is form of alcohol was present in Decedent's bloodstream two days after his admission to the hospital.

Barreto also noted that the record included an excerpt from a reference or textbook relating to ethylene glycel, although she did not
state that she considered it. Barreto's understanding of the source of this document is, however, somewhat curious as she indicated a
belief that these materials were the result of research by Mrs. Catledge. Id. at 51. This assumption, while probably not critical, is
unsupported. See supra n. 10.

Barreto also considered the toxicology report which addressed the presence of ethylene glycol in Decedent's system at the time of his
hospital admission. Id. at 52. [**29] This report reflected a lavel of 545 milligrams per liter. Id. She considered this a Thigh" level
because a normatl reading should be zero. She did not, however, consult with anyone to determine any further significance of this
"high" level. Id. at 52-53. 18

. FOOTNOTES

“1s In other words, although she relied on the "high" level of ethylene glycol in Decedent's bloodstream as evidence that he

consumed the substance intentionally, Barreto did not seek to determine what quantity of antifreeze Decedent would have had to
rconsume to produce this reading.

Barreto also conceded that she did not know whether Decedent had any other alcoholic beverages available to him on the day he
ingested antifreeze. Jd. at 63. She also took no steps te determine the extent of Decedent's history of alcohol abuse. Id. Nonetheless,
she considered Decedent's history of aicohol abuse in connection with [*622] the reference materials which had been included with
the documents submitted by Mrs. Catledge because the latter indicated "that peopie [with] alcohol problem[s] tend to drink
antifreeze." Id. at 71.

Although Barrete only referred to use of intoxicant as the denial reason on her initial computer entry, she testified that her initial
[**30] conclusion was that the "death was due to use of intexicant and alse intentionally self-inflicted injury.” Id. at 49. Barreto
made these initial determinations on December 28, 2008. Id. at 38. The actual denial letter, which Barreto signed, was sent out cn or
about February 15, 2007. Id. As noted above, although this letter references only the death certificate, proof of death form, autopsy
report and the September 8, 2006 toxicology repott, Barreto testified that she also considered the incident report and reference
materials inciuded in the documents submitted by Mrs. Catledge, as wzll as a reference book maintained in her office titled
"Disposition of Toxic Drugs & Chemicals in Man." Barreto did not, however, indicate what information was gained from this book. Id. at
58.

Barreto received the appeal letter on December 20, 2007, almast a year after making her initial decision and over ten months after
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the denial letter was posted. Jd. at 38. She did not act on the appeal other than to forward it to Jessica Dorazio, a consultant who was
not involved in the eariier determination. Id. at 40.

2. Final Denial Determination

Plaintiff's appeal was considered by Jessica Dorazio who, ultimately, [**31] made the final denial decision. Dorazio Depos. at 64 &
81. The rationale for the final denial is reflected in the combination of notes made by a trainee working with Dorazio {notes dated
February 19, 2008) and Dorazio's additional notation on March 5, 2008, both of which are quated above, See supra p. 13.

when asked on what basis she conduded "the record . . . shows clearly that this decedent intentionally consumed" antifreeze, Dorazio
identified the death certificate's reference to "drank anti-freeze.” Dorazio Depos. at 65. She conceded, however, that the form does
not state that the decedent intentionally drank antifreeze. :

Although not mentioned in Aetna's initial or final denial latters, Dorazio, like Barreto, alsc testified that she relied on the incident
report. Dorazio found it significant that this report stated that Decedent was a heavy drinker and that he "died after ingesting
antifreeze.” Dorazio Depos. at 67. She "interpret[ed] this to mean that he intenticnally ingested it because there is no evidence to the
contrary." Id.

Dorazio also relied on similar statements in the autopsy report that the death was due to ethvlene glycol ingestion and that decedent
had a history of [**32] alcohol abuse. Id. at 69. Asked "where in this autopsy report is there clear ¢vidence that [decedent]
intentionally consumed antifreeze?" Dorazio responded: "It doesn't specifically say. Again, that's our interpretation.” Id.

Dorazio did not rely on any other evidence of intent. Id, at 72 (confirming she considered only "the autopsy report, the incident
report, and the death certificate"), She did, however, consider the toxicology report as supporting the cause of death. Id, at 84.

Dorazio conceded that she was not aware of any attempt by Aetna representatives to interview Mrs. Catledge or her son, Dorazio
Depos. at 89. She was also unaware of any information Mrs. Catledge may have given during her police interview. Id. Dorazio noted,
nonetheless, that [#623] Mrs, Catledge was given an opportunity to submit an explanation, which could have included a personat

narrative. Id. at 99 (stating on cross-examination that “[t]here are no limits on the type of docurnentation that someone can submit™).
13

FOOTNOTES

19 Prior te making its initial denial decision, Aetna made one request for additional information from Mrs. Catledge. This was In
. the form of a December 5, 2006, letter asking specifically for the autopsy [*¥*33] and toxicology report. This letter did not invite
Mrs. Catledge to provide any other information.

Aetna’s next communication to Plaintiff was its initial denial letter. This letter advised Plaintiff as follows:

If you have any additicnal infermation, not previously submitted, which you believe will assist us in avaluating your
claim . . . please forward that to us . . . . In particular, the following information would assist us in evaluating your claim
for benefits and could affect our benefits determination: 1. Written documentation in an official report of the accident,
or certified In writing, by the Coroner, that Mr. Catledge’s death was an accident and was not caused or conltributed
[to] by an intentionally self-inflicted injury, alcohol, intoxicanis or drugs.”

Dkt No. 40-2 at 46-47 {emphasis added). After advising Mrs. Catledge of her ERISA appeal rights, the letter repeats that Aetna
. will consider

any additional evidence you submit, including but not limited fo:
. The specific information listed above, and
‘ . Any other claim information or documentation you believe would assist us in reviewing your claim.
K.

. Fairly read, these instructions allow for but do not encourage submission of [**34] a personal narrative. They further suggest
that Aetna is likely to be persuaded only by an official determination of Decedent's intent that is directly contrary {o Aetna's
: application of the policy exclusions.

Dorazic also testified on cross-examination that Scott Catledge's history of alcoholism was significant because "[b]ased on the
documentation it was known that people who had a drinking problem could consume antifreeze as a way of getting intoxicated."
Dorazio Depos. at 100, On redirect, she conceded that she had no information regarding “whether there were any normal alcoholic
drinks available to [Decedent] at the time . . . he ingested antifreeze.” Id. at 105. She also conceded that Aetna did not explore the
extent of Decedent's history of alcoholism, relying only on the references in the documents provided (autopsy and incident report).

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A. Issues for Review

The issues for review are whether Aetna abused its discretion in deciding the following two questions adversely to Plaintiff: (1)
whether Decedent died as a result of an accident; and (2} if so, whether the cause of the accident fell within a Plan limitation (/.e.
whether the accidental death resulted from [**35] intentional self-harm or use of an intexicant). Aetna provided a single answer to

the combined questions, concluding that the death was not accidental because it resulted from an excluded cause. Thus, atbeit through
a singie answer, Aetna answered the first guestion "ne” and the secend guestion "yes."
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As discussed below, the two questions should have been addressed separately, given the allocation of the burdens of proof. This is
particularly important where, as here, the burden of proof may be determinative because of the limited underlying evidence. That
sald, the single answer recognizes that the first and second questions are closely intertwined. Whether the death was accidental and
whether one of the two cited exclusions applies turns on a single underlying determination: whether Decadent intentionally consumed
anitfreeze or some other substance [*624] containing etylene glycol. 20

FOOTNOTES

20 The death certificate refers specifically te antifreeze as the source of the ethylene glycol which ied te Decedent's death. The :
- incident report, likewise, indicates that a bottle of antifreeze was found in the kitchen of Decedent's home (but, apparently, moved
" to the kitchen by Son who found the bottle in [**36] his bedroom). The autopsy report, by contrast, states that no antifreeze :
" was found. It suggests tire cleaner as the source of the ethylene glycel.

B. Burdens and Standards of Proof

HMFFAR individual claiming benefits under an ERISA plan bears the initial burden of estabiishing that the claim falls within the scope
of coverage. Jepkins v. Montgomery Industries, 77 F.3d 740, 743 (4th Cir. 1998) (importing common law as to burdens of proof from
state law). If the claimant satisfies this burden, the burden shifts to the Plan to show that some exclusion applies which precludes
payment of benefits, Id. In the present case, Plaintiff had the burden of showing the death was "accidental” (a term not defined ir the
Plan). If Plaintiff met that burden, Defendant had the buren of showing that the death resulted from an excluded cause (fell within a
Plan limitation).

The court considers this aliocation of the burden of proof when conducting a review of the decisicn of a plan fiduciary, although it must
do so in light of the degree of discretion under which the fiduciary acted. As discussed above, Aetna’s determination as to whether
the claim fell within the basic coverage of the plan and whether it was [**37] excluded is subject to review for abuse of discretion.
That review requires consideration of the Booth factors of which conflict of interest is one consideration but does not modify the
standard of review. See Champion, 2008 1.5, App. LEXIS 25741 at *14 (factors quoted in full above).

The court finds the following five Baoth factors to be particularly significant to determining whether Aetna has abused its discretion in
this action:

(1) the language of the plan; . . . (3) the adequacy of the materials considered to make the decision and the degree to
which they support it; . . . {(5) whether the decisionmaking process was reasoned and principled; (6) whether the decision
was consistent with the procedural and substantive requirements of ERISA; . . . and (8) the fiduciary's motives and any
conflict of interest it may have.

Id.

C. Intent

Importance of issue of intent. In the present case, the twe questions before Aetna, whether the death fell within the scope of the
policy (that is, whether the death was accidental) and whether the cause of death fell within a limitation are clesely tinked. This is
because both questions turn on whether Decedent intended to consume antifreeze. If Aetna properly concluded that

[**38] Decedent intended to consume a toxic substance, then it could reasonably conclude that the death was not "accidental” as
that term is generally understood. See generally Wickman v. Northwestern National Ins. Co., 908 F.2d 1077, 1084 (1st Cir, 1998)
{holding that, where there is no subjective evidence of intent, insurer may consider whether "a reasonable person with background
and characteristics similar to the insured would have viewed the injury as highly likely to occur as a result of the insured’s intentional
conduct” ) (cited with approval in Eckelberry v. Reliastar Life Ins. Co., 469 F.3d 340, 343 (4th Cir. 2008)). Likewise, Aetna cauld
reasonably find that the purpose of any intentional consumption of antifreeze was either as an Intoxicant or to cause self injury. #

‘FOOTNOTES

21 The court assumes for present purposes that an ERISA fiduciary might reasonably conclude that a person who intentionally
- consumed antifreeze did so either for the purpose of becoming intoxicated or for the purpose of self-harm. The conclusion that
. hoth purposes were intended seems less probable.

[*6251 The interrelationship of the two determinations makes application of the differing burdens of proof both critical and
challenging [**39] where, as discussed below, there is minimal evidence as to whether Decedent intended to consume antifreeze. A
conclusion as to this intent is a necessary prerequisite to applying the Wickman analysis discussed above. 22

FOOTNOTES

- 22 Wickman presupposes proof that the insured intended to take the risky action and considers only whether, assurning such
intentional risky action, the insured "would have viewed the injury as highly likely to occur.” Thus, Wickman does not aid in :
determining the central underlying issue of whether Decedent intended to consume antifreeze.

Evidence of Intent. The difficulty in this case is that there is no direct evidence and very little indirect evidence as to whether
Decedent intentionally consumed antifreeze. What evidence exists in the record shows only that the police and ceroner found
insufficient evidence to support a finding of foul play (i.e. that Decedent was forced or tricked into drinking the toxic substance) or
suicide (that he intentionally drank the substance for the purpese of causing his own death). This leaves three possibilities: that the
toxic substance was consumed accidentally, that it was consumed for the purpese of self-harm, or that it was consumed [**40] as an
intoxicant.
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Accidental Consumption. Aetna summarily dismissed the possibility of accidental consumption, concluding that the absence of
evidence of suicide or foul play "clearly" supported a finding of intentional consumption. This rejection is not logical, Rather, absent
some other evidence, the elimination of foul play and suicide left the three aforementioned causes equally likely. That is, without
something more, there is no basis on which to determine that accidental consumption was less likely than intentional self-harm or use
as an intoxicant.

The statement that the accident happened because Decedent "drank antifreeze," fails to favor either accident or intentional ingestion.
The question is not whether Decedent "drank” antifreeze but whether he did so knowing he was consuming antifreeze or, instead,
picked up and drank from a eup he believed to contain some other substance. The court finds no basis for Barreto's claim (through
depesition testimony) that the coronar's choice of the word “drank” rather than "ingested” or "exposure” indicates a finding by the
coroner that Decedent intentionally consumed antifreeze.

At the same time, the coroner's determination that the death [**41] was "accidental” is not determinative of whether the death is
an "accidental” death as that term is intended in the policy. See Thomas v. Reliance Standard Life ins. Co., 487 F. Supp. 2d 697, 702
0.3 (D.5.C. 2007 ("‘“4'5z~'deterrnination that death was "accidental™ as shown on death certificate "does not determine whether the
death was an 'accident' for purpeses of an accidental death policy, and a coraner's report or similar finding does not bind a plan
administrator’s examination of the evidence™). 23 This is because, even absent a Plan definiticn, that determination may be subject to
considerations such as those addressed in Wickman. In [*626] any event, the available choices on the death certificate indicate only
that the coroner ruled out foul play or suicide as causes.

 FOOTNOTES

" 23 Of course, in this case the Plan wants to rely on a specific adverse inference (intentional consumption) which may be drawn
. from selected language on the death certificate (that Decedent "drank” antifreeze) while rejecting the determination that the
“ death was “accidental."

Intentional Self-Harm. Aetna has offered no evidence that Decedent intended seli-harm. This s simply an alternative explanation
to consumption of antifreeze [**42] as an intoxicant if you first assume intentional consumption. 24 An intent of self-hiarm is,
moreover, at least somewhat inconsistent with the Coroner’s determination that the death was not a suicide. It is also arguably
inconsistent with legal presumptions absent evidence to the contrary. See Clements v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Col. 266.5.C. 488, 2724
S.E.2d 309 (S.C. 1976) {recognizing that "many decisions” of the South Carolina Supreme Court discuss “the presumption against
suicide"); White v. North Carolina Mut. Life Ins. Co., 208 §.C. 168, 37 S.E.2d 505 (S.C. 1946) (applying presumption in favor of
accident where death is due to "unexplained violent external means").

. FOOTNOTES

{ 24 Barreto mentioned only the Intoxicant exclusion in her initial computer entry. This may suggest that the seif-harm exclusion
‘included in the denial letter was an afterthought intended to cover what she assumed was the only logical alternative reason for
. censuming antifreeze (given her assumption that the consumption of the antifreeze was intentional).

Use of an Intoxicant. As to Decedent's possible consumption of antifreeze as an intoxicant, Aetna relies on evidence that: (1}
Decedent was a heavy drinker; (2) alcoholics have been known to consume [**#43] antifreeze as an intoxicant; and (3) the
pathologist saw fit to mention Decedent’s alcohol use In the autopsy report. All this together suggests only that there was a possible
motive for consumption of antifreeze as an intoxicant and the pathologist may have considered this possible motive. This is not
enough to support a determination that Decedent acted based on such a motivation because it amounts to nothing more than
speculation based on the (presumed) speculation of cthers. At the |east, Aetna would need some other evidence making intentional
consumption more likely than not. Such evidence might include evidence of prior similar behavior (censumption of a similar product
for a similar purpose) or evidence that Decedent had no other alcohol available to him and his difficulties with alcohol were sufficiently
severe that he might have resorted to such extreme measures in that circumstance, Evidence making accidental consumption less
iikely as a probability might also suffice. 25

' FOOTNOTES
| 25 In its memorandum, Aetna suggests that other facts may support its conciusion that the death was not accidental such asthe
color of the antifreeze (which Aetna states was green) versus the color of Decedent's [**44] drink of choice (Cede Red Mountain |

. Dew). The record does not, however, include any evidence as to the color of the antifreeze in the container found in the home.
. Neither is there any evidence that either decisionmaker consi possibl lor diffi

Pecision without sufficient evidence or investigation. Neither Barreto nor Dorizo acknowledged the absence or inadequacy of the
evidence relating to intent or, at the least, the difficulty of the question. Instead, both jumped easily and quickly to a decision which
saved a substantial sum of monay for their employer in spite of an inconclusive record. 26 Both also characterized the intent issue as
"elear" despite the absence or inadequacy of the evidence. 27 Nelther considered [*627] seeking additionai evidence which might
have clarified the issue of intent before making their decisions, For example, neither sought to determine: (1) whether Decedent had
any other alcohol availabie to him (which would make his consumption of antifreeze as an intoxicant unlikely}; (2) the extent of
Decedent's history of aicahol use or abuse (including whether he had ever before consumed a substance such as antifreeze as an
intoxicant or for the purpose [**457 of self harm); (3) the quantity of antifreeze which Decedent would need to have consumad to
produce the level of ethylene glycol found in his system; (4) whether this amount was consistent with the ameunt missing from the
container located in Decedent's home: (5) whether the statement in the autopsy report that police found tire cleaner but not
antifreeze in the home indicated that the incident report was in errer and, if so, the significance of this error; or {6) the color of the
product removed from the home (be it antifreeze or tire cleaner).
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FGOTNOTES

‘ 26 That said, the court finds no evidence of systematic bias in Aetna's compensation system which, according to the evidence
before the court, rewards accuracy rather than benefit denials or other cost savings for the corporation.

‘27 Barreto may also have relied on totally irrelevant evidence in concluding that death was due to use of an intoxicant. In the
“initial denial letter, Barreto referred to Decedent's blood alcohol level at the time of death. In her deposition, she explained that
“this level was significant because it was higher than the legatl limit (for drivers). Both the reference and the explanation are
troubling as they suggest that [**46] she relied on Decedent's blood alcohol level in deciding his death was due to use of an
‘intoxicant. Decedent was, however, in the hospital in a totally incapacitated state for two days before his desth. Any aleohol in his
system at the time of death was, therefore, administered during the hospitalization, presumably as a treatment for etylene glycol
. poisoning as suggested i tise excerpt found in the administrative record.

Much of this information would likely have been available at the time of Aetna's initial decision, either in more detailed police reports
ar threugh interviews of the officers involved. Some might have been obtained from Mrs. Catledge through a request for additional
information (just as Aetna had requested additional informatien in the form of the autopsy and toxicology reports). Unfortunately,
Aetna made no effort to obtain this information before making its initial denial dectsion. 2#

 FOOTNOTES

" 23 Aetna’s reluctance to seek additional information regarding the police investigation (and items found in the search) before

“ denying the claim for $ 50,000 in accidental death benefits seems inconsistent with its multipte calls, before paying out the $
©2,000 life insurance [**47] benefit, to confirm that Mrs, Catledge was not implicated in Decedent's death. Notably, these calls
i were made even though Aetna had in hand a death certificate which ruled out foul play and an incident report which indicated

: that Mrs. Catledge had agreed to and passed a polygraph examination. Neither Barrete nor Dorfzo were, however, involved in

: making these calis.

Neither did Aetna suggest to Plaintiff that more information might be helpful before the decision was made. The only suggestion that -
more information was necessary or would be considered was in the form of the initial denial letter which arguably implied that only an
official report reaching a conclusion favorable to Plaintiff (including ruling out the excluded causas) would suffice,

When Plaintiff di¢ appeal through counsel, Aetna made no effort to clarify counsel's erroneous belief as to the basis of the denial.
Neither does Aetna appear to have been responsive to counsel's telephonic inquiries. Aetna may, in the normal course, have no
affirmative duty to assist a participant in perfecting an appeal. However, its failure in this instance to clarify so glaring an error by
appellant in the face of so limited a record favoring [**48] the Plan's denial, suggests that its interest was more in favor of affirming
denial of a claim than in providing a full and fair review of that denial.

Errors in appeal to Plan. Plaintiff is not, however, without fault because she failed to seek a timely appeal (although [*628] that
failure has been waived), and failed to submit any additional information when she did appeal. Indeed, the attorney who represented
her in her appeal of the initial denial {not her present counsel): {1) was apparently unaware of the governing law (threatening a state
law bad faith claim) and, consequently, of ERISA's requirements regarding review and appeal; (2) dearly misundersteod the basis of
the denial (referring to denial based on a suicide exclusion) and, consequently, misdirected his argument on appeal; (3) did not seek
i to determine what information Aetna had considered in the initial denial or inquire as to what additional information might be helpful;
and (4) relied exclusively on the death certificate's determination that the death was an "accident” rather than a "suicide." 2 ‘

i  FOOTNOTES

Tap Collectively, these facts suggest that the attorney whe handled the administrative appeal either did not have or did not review
: [**49] the initial denial letter. Assuming he did not have the letter and couid not obtain it from his client, he shouid have sought

- & copy from Aetna so that the appeal might be properly directed. -

D. Application of Booth Factors.

While the court cannot excuse the obvious deficiencies in the appeal, neither can it conclude that Aetna’s initial decision and review
on appeal are consistent with praper exercise of its fiduciary duties, Specifically, the court finds that both the initial and appellate
decisions were made without proper consideration of the plan's structure and language (first Booth factor). That structure and
language estahlish that the basic scope of coverage Is dependent on the claim coming within a common law understanding of the
undefinad terms "accident" or "accidental." Because the two limitations for death due to intoxication or self inflicted injury appear
later in the Plan and after the granting of various other benefits, it would be unreasonable to read the Plan to define accident by
reference to the various limitations, Consequently, Aetna should not have conflated the two distinct questions of coverage which,
effectively, shifted the burden to Plaintiff to disprove [**50] application of a limitation.

Aetna also based its decision as to the critical issue of intent on an inadequate factual record {third Bogth facter). While the court
assumes that the issue of intent could not then and cannot now be conclusively determined, that does not mean that Aetna could act
on a clearly inadequate recard when more information was likely then available, The difficulties with the initial decision were
exacerbated by the suggestion in the denial letter that Mrs, Catledge might need some form of an amended official report to advance
her claim and by Aetna's failure to make any effort, ence a belated appeal was allowed, te insure that the appeal was meaningful.
Instead, Aetna reaffirmed its initial decision without correcting counsel's misunderstanding of the reascn for the denial. 30

FOOTNOTES
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30 The court does not suggest that an ERISA fiduciary necessarily errs in failing to assist a participant in correcting deficiencies in
the form and focus of his or her appeal. Rather, the court coneludes only that HN5Fan ERISA fiduciary should not be allowed to
rely on deficiencies in the form or content of an appeal to excuse its own failure to obtain an adequate record prior to making its
initial [**51] or final decision on the matter.

The court also finds that the denial resulted from a decisionmaking process which was not reasoned and principied in that the decision
makers based their decision on speculation (fifth Bogth factor).

For these same reasons, the court condludes that Aetna's denlial of benefits did not satisfy "the procedural and substantive [*629]
requirements of ERISA" (sixth Booth factor) because Aetna made its decision without adequate information and failed to provide a
meaningful administrative review.

Finally, the court has considered "the fiduciary's motives and any conflict of interest it may have.” Here, as exptained in Glenn and
Charmpion, the fiduciary is operating under a conflict of interest in that a decision in favor of claimant would result in payment of $
50,000 from Aetna's assets. Given the dloseness of the question, this conflict tips the balance in favor of claimant. This is not to
suggest that the conflict required Aetna to find in favor of payment when faced with such an ambiguous record, Rather, the conflict
supports placing an affirmative duty on Aetna to seek to clarify the ambigucus record prior to making a decision on the intertwined
questions of whether [*#*52] Decedent died as a result of an "accident” and whether the "accident" restilted from an excluded cause.
By failing o seek clarification before making its decisions, Aetna has acted as one interested in denying a claim, rather than as one
interested in determining whether the ¢laim should or should not be paid.

E. Remedy

Having concluded that Aetna improperly denied the claim, the court, nonetheless, does not find the record adeguate to support
payment of benefits. This is because any decision as to Decedent's intent would be speculative based on the present recerd. The court,
therefore, remands the matter to Aetna for further review by an individual not involved in the earlier review process.

Plaintiff shali be allowed sixty days to submit materiais which might ald in resolving open issues including but not limited to the extent

of Decedent's difficulties with alcohol, whether he had other alcohol available in the home at the time he apparently consumed
antifreeze, and any other matter which might reflect on his intent.

Aetna shall aiso be aliowed to seek additional information within this sixty day period. If it Jocates additional information, it shall
provide that information to Plaintiff [**53] and allow her a fifteen day period in which to respond before any decision is made. As an
ERISA fiduciary, Aetna is, of course, obligated not only to seek evidence to suppert its earlier denial, but to seek any evidence which
might clarify the record,

Absent further order, Aetna should complete its review within thirty days of Plaintiff advising it that she has submitted all evidence or
response which she intends to submit. The parties shall file & copy of that decision with the court within seven calendar days of
receipt. As appropriate, the parties may file renewed memoranda in support of judgment within fifteen days of filing of the decision on
remand.

F. Attorneys' Fees

The court declines to address whether to award attorneys' fees in either party's favor at the present time.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the court concludes that Aetna abused its discretion in denying the claim for accidental death
benefits on the record before it. The court further concludes that the record in faver of Plaintiff is not so strong as to mandate an
award of benefits. The court, therefore, remands for further review under the schedule set forth above.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

/s/ [*¥*54] Camercn McGowan Currie

CAMERON MCGDOWAN CURRIE

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Columbia, South Carolina

January 21, 200%
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